© Adis International Limited All rights reserved

Drug-Induced Cognition Disorders in the Elderly

Incidence, Prevention and Management

Shelly L. Gray, ¹ Katie V. Lai² and Eric B. Larson³

- 1 School of Pharmacy, University of Washington, Seattle, Washington, USA
- 2 Department of Pharmacy, Harborview Medical Center, Seattle, Washington, USA
- 3 Department of Medicine, University of Washington, Seattle, Washington, USA

Contents

Abstract
1. Epidemiology
1.1 Incidence and Prevalence
1.1.1 Delirium
1.1.2 Dementia
1.2 Risk Factors
2. The Elderly as a Risk Group
3. Source of Data for Drug-Induced Cognitive Impairment
4. Adverse Effects of Specific Drug Classes
4.1 Centrally Acting Agents
4.2 Hypnotics/Sedatives
4.3 Antidepressants
4.4 Antipsychotics
4.5 Lithium
4.6 Anglaesics
4.7 Antiparkinsonian Agents
4.8 Anticonvulsants
4.9 Antihypertensive Agents
4.10 Other Cardiovascular Agents
4.11 Histamine Receptor Antagonists
4.11.1 H ₂ Antagonists
4.11.2 H ₁ Receptor Antagonists
4.12 Corticosteroids
4.13 Other Agents
5. Detection and Management/Prevention
5.1 Drug-Induced Delirium
5.2 Drug-Induced Dementia
6. Conclusion
o. Conducti

Abstract

The aetiology of cognitive impairment is multifactorial; however, drugs are an important cause of delirium and dementia. Several factors may increase the risk of drug-induced cognition disorders in the elderly including imbalances in

neurotransmitters (e.g. acetylcholine), age-related alterations in pharmacokinetics and pharmacodynamics, and high levels of medication use.

Nearly any drug can cause cognitive impairment in susceptible individuals; however, certain classes are more commonly implicated. Benzodiazepines, opioids, anticholinergics, and tricyclic antidepressants are probably the worst offenders. Older antihypertensive agents (reserpine, clonidine) have negative effects on cognition; however, large clinical trials in the elderly indicate that commonly used agents [e.g. thiazide diuretics, calcium antagonists (amiodipine, diltiazem) ACE inhibitors (captopril, enalapril) and β -blockers (atenolol)] have minimal effects on cognition. Newer antidepressants such as selective serotonin (5-hydroxytryptamine; 5-HT) reuptake inhibitors (SSRIs) and reversible inhibitors of monoamine oxidase A have not been shown to have negative effects on cognition. Although some drugs have shown low risk for causing cognition disorders in research studies, risk may be increased in frail older adults taking several medications and each case should be reviewed carefully.

Identification of drug-induced cognitive impairment is crucial to early detection and resolution of symptoms. Preventive strategies directed at avoiding high risk medications when possible, appropriately adjusting doses based on agerelated changes and close follow-up may prevent these conditions.

Cognitive impairment in the elderly is a major public health problem, especially in light of the aging of the population. Although the aetiology of cognitive disorders is multifactorial, the adverse effects of drug therapy are an important cause of these disorders. This review will focus on 2 different drug-induced cognitive disorders observed in clinical practice in the elderly, delirium and dementia.

Delirium is a syndrome characterised by a disturbance in consciousness (reduced clarity of awareness of the environment) and a change in cognition or the development of perceptual disturbance.[1] The hallmark of delirium is an acute onset and a fluctuating course.[2] In contrast, the cognitive deficits in patients with dementia of the Alzheimer's type typically develop insidiously, are more chronic in nature and usually do not fluctuate throughout the day. Drugs may cause impairments in cognition that resemble those observed in dementia due to Alzheimer's disease. The concept of cognition refers to the information processing and psychomotor functions that allow organisms to adapt to and manipulate their surroundings. Cognition includes many processes such as perception,

attention, memory, learning, thinking, verbal abilities, problem-solving and motor performance.^[3] Drugs can affect one or many processes of cognition.

The traditional definitions of delirium and dementia (Alzheimer's disease) are used as a framework to discuss drug-induced cognition disorders, with the caveat that this is an oversimplification and substantial overlap between the 2 disorders may exist. This review primarily focuses on research examining drug-induced delirium or dementia in elderly patients receiving medication for treatment. However, since major gaps exist in the literature regarding adverse drug effects in the elderly, we will supplement with studies conducted in middle-aged and healthy volunteers, including single dose studies when necessary. It is beyond the scope of this article to review all literature relevant to drug-induced cognition disorders.

1. Epidemiology

1.1 Incidence and Prevalence

1.1.1 Delirium

The incidence of delirium is difficult to determine because of major differences among available

studies in the design, methodology (e.g. definition of delirium) and characteristics of the patient sample (e.g. age, medical versus surgical). It is estimated that 10 to 16% of elderly patients have delirium at time of hospital admission and 18 to 38% experience delirium during the hospital stay.^[4-6] Delirium is associated with a mortality rate ranging from 10 to 65%.^[4] Although not well characterised, medication use plays an important role in the development of delirium.^[4] In 1 study, drug toxicity accounted for 25% of the delirium cases where a single definite or probable aetiology could be determined, representing the second leading cause after infections.^[7]

1.1.2 Dementia

The prevalence of dementia increases significantly with age, affecting 25 to 48% of those older than 85 years of age. [8] Compared with delirium, even less is known about the prevalence of druginduced dementia. Among 308 outpatients with dementia, 35 were found to have an adverse drug reaction that contributed to the cognitive impairment. [9] Discontinuation or modification of the drug(s) resulted in an improvement in cognition for all patients. For 29% of these individuals, the drug(s) was the sole cause of the cognitive impairment, indicating that additional causes of impairment were also present (e.g. Alzheimer's disease). The prevalence of drug-induced dementia in the general population is not known.

1.2 Risk Factors

Risk factors for delirium can be categorised as predisposing (baseline patient characteristics) and precipitating (acute insult). [4] Important predisposing risk factors that are consistent among studies include advanced age, pre-existing underlying cognitive impairment, cerebral damage, severe chronic illness and functional impairment. [4,6] Precipitating factors include drugs (including illicit drug use), as well as intercurrent illness, infections, metabolic disturbances, dehydration, acute urinary retention, malnutrition, alcohol withdrawal, and environmental and psychosocial factors. [4,5]

A patient admitted to the hospital with one or more predisposing risk factors is at greater risk of developing delirium with even a mild precipitating risk factor (e.g. addition of a drug) compared with patients with no baseline risk. Conversely, a patient with no predisposing risk factors may not develop delirium even in the presence of several noxious precipitating factors (e.g. drug added, severe infection). ^[5] This complex relationship makes it difficult to evaluate drugs as a cause of delirium in everyday practice.

2. The Elderly as a Risk Group

Age is a strong risk factor for the development of delirium and dementia. Several factors may increase the risk of drug-induced cognition disorders in the elderly including imbalances in neurotransmitters (e.g. acetylcholine), age-related alterations in pharmacokinetics and pharmacodynamics, and high levels of medication use.

Insight into the mechanism by which some medications contribute to delirium can be gained by understanding what is known of the aetiology of this syndrome. Delirium is marked by a global cerebral dysfunction resulting in a generalised reduction of cerebral oxidative metabolism and imbalance of several neurotransmitters.[10] Many lines of evidence support the hypothesis that delirium is mediated in part by a failure in central cholinergic transmission, a major system that regulates arousal, attention and memory processes.[6,10] First, clinical and experimental studies of anticholinergic intoxication have demonstrated the behavioural and electroencephalogram (EEC) manifestations of delirium: these effects are reversible upon administration of cholinesterase inhibitors.[11] Secondly, serum anticholinergic activity is associated with the presence of cognitive impairment in older medical^[12] and presurgical patients.[13] Thirdly, deficits in cholinergic transmission contribute to the memory impairment observed in Alzheimer's disease. Age-related changes in cholinergic function are likely to be factors responsible for the increased sensitivity of older patients to the development of delirium.[10]

Anticholinergic medications are a well-known cause of cognitive impairment.[14-18] In the elderly. the majority of experimental studies with anticholinergic agents (e.g. scopolamine, trihexyphenidyl. oxybutynin) have been conducted in volunteers. Many medication classes have anticholinergic properties including tricyclic antidepressants, antipsychotics, histamine H₁ receptor antagonists (antihistamines) and antiarrhythmics. Some agents that are traditionally considered not to have anticholinergic effects do have serum anticholinergic activity as detected by assays^[19] and their cognitive effects can be reversed with the administration of physostigmine.^[20-23] Other neurotransmitters are likely to be involved in drug-induced cognition disorders. Dopaminergic, serotonergic and adrenergic transmission is altered in Alzheimer's disease and these transmitters are presumed to play a role in cognitive deficits.[24]

Age-associated changes in drug pharmacokinetics may predispose the elderly to adverse drug reactions. [25,26] Although several changes occur, reduced renal and hepatic elimination are of particular importance. Many drugs that undergo oxidative metabolism (e.g. benzodiazepines, tricyclic antidepressants, antipsychotics) may have reduced clearance in the elderly. The most predictable age-associated pharmacokinetic change is reduced renal clearance; thus many drugs that are primarily eliminated by the kidneys often have reduced clearance [e.g. lithium, digoxin, morphine, pethidine (meperidine), H₂ receptor antagonists]. If a medication is not adjusted appropriately for these age-related changes, increased serum concentrations and toxicity can occur.

Even without changes in pharmacokinetics, the elderly are more sensitive to some medications, reflecting altered drug pharmacodynamics. [26] For example, memory is impaired to a greater extent with scopolamine in older patients compared with younger patients [14,15] and in patients with Alzheimer's disease compared with healthy agematched controls. [27] This is likely to be because of reduced cholinergic transmission, making the elderly more sensitive to drug induced reductions in

cholinergic transmission. Evidence exists for increased sensitivity to the effects of benzodiazepines and possibly opioids with aging.^[26,28]

Lastly, many elderly use multiple long term medications. High drug use has been shown to increase the risk of general adverse drug reactions and cognition specific adverse drug reactions in the elderly. The risk of cognitive impairment increases with the number of prescription medications, especially if 4 or more are prescribed. [9]

3. Source of Data for Drug-Induced Cognitive Impairment

Information about drug-induced delirium and dementia has been generated from many sources including case reports, epidemiological evaluations and clinical trials. Case reports, although beneficial for discovering potential adverse drug reactions of newly marketed drugs, do not allow clinicians to determine whether the adverse drug reaction is rare or common. Almost every drug class has been implicated by case reports in causing cognitive impairment. [29,30]

A randomised controlled trial is the most reliable method to determine the cognitive effects of a medication. This design has been used primarily to evaluate the impairment of specific aspects of cognition for medications with known effects on the CNS (e.g. antidepressants, benzodiazepines). Many trials were conducted in healthy volunteers, after single or short term administration, which may provide insight into possible drug-induced cognitive effects, but may not provide information regarding the full extent of cognitive effects in individuals with chronic disease who take the medication as long term therapy.^[31] Co-existing diseases and frail clinical status are risk factors for experiencing an adverse event. Lack of drug-induced cognitive effects in healthy volunteers or middle-aged adults should be interpreted cautiously, since these drugs may have different effects in an older, chronically ill individual.

Studies are often difficult to compare because of the several different types of instruments used to assess cognition. Furthermore, it is not known

Table I. Neuropsychological test classification^[3,32]

1. Attention

Examination of ability to focus attention (vigilance) or sustain behaviour while resisting distractions. Attention is needed for concentration and tracking

2. Perception

Tests the acquisition or integration of sensory stimuli (visual, tactile, auditory). These tests require little or no physical manipulation of material and often test other aspects of cognition as well (attention, memory)

3. Memory

Tests measuring the recall or recognition of newly learned information (visual, verbal, tactile). Immediate or long term memory can be tested. Memory involves separate process of encoding, storage and retrieval

4. Verbal functions and language skills

Tests of language skills including reading, comprehension, writing and speaking

5. Construction

These tests always have a spatial component and examine the integration of visual-perceptive skills and motor response. Concept encompasses drawing and building or assembling

6. Concept formation and reasoning

Tests of complex mental abilities involving an available store of learned material, an intact system for organising perceptions, ability to process more than 2 mental events at a time, and diffuse cortical interconnections for 'thought'. Inability to think in generalisations is the most common sign of impairments in this area

7. Motor performance

Tests evaluating motor response and coordination. Require relatively simple hand-eye coordination and direct motor responses

how subtle deficits on tests of cognition relate to ability to care for oneself in everyday life. Based on the categorisation by Lezak,^[3] the tests in this review have been grouped by the primary effect on cognition (table I).^[3,32] Some studies may use a brief screening instrument to assess overall cognition [e.g. Mini-Mental State Examination (MMSE)] which tends to be less sensitive in detecting changes due to drug effects.^[13,33]

A randomised controlled trial is not feasible for studying the propensity of drugs to cause delirium, thus most information about drug-induced delirium comes from prospective cohort studies of hospitalised patients (table II). [5,7,34-41] Importantly, only 2 studies examined incident delirium cases and used criteria to ensure the medication exposure preceded the onset of delirium. [5,35] Rarely do epidemiological evaluations use standard criteria to assess the causality of implicated drug with cognitive disorder, [7,9] which is necessary when trying to determine if an adverse event is caused by drug therapy or other aetiologies. [42,43]

4. Adverse Effects of Specific Drug Classes

Nearly every drug class can cause delirium/dementia in susceptible individuals, but only a few agents are consistent risk factors in prospective studies (table III). [44,45] Importantly, cognitive changes may be associated with the disease the drug is used to treat (e.g. depression, epilepsy, hypertension) making it difficult to determine the full extent of drug-induced cognitive deficits. The most evidence exists for benzodiazepines, opioids, anticholinergic agents and tricyclic antidepressants but study results are discrepant.

4.1 Centrally Acting Agents

Eight prospective trials of hospitalised patients have evaluated specific drug classes as one of several potential risk factors for delirium (table II), with only 2 studies using rigorous methodology to examine drug effects.^[5,35] Patients taking pethidine or benzodiazepines were approximately 3 times more likely to develop delirium after surgery.^[35] Anticholinergic drug use was not a signif-

Drug Safety 1999 Aug; 21 (2)

Table II. Summary of epidemiological studies that have evaluated medication as risk factors for delirium/dementia

Reference	Population	Drugs examined	Assessment of delirium or cognition	Results: adjusted RR/OR (95% CI) ^a	Comments
Dementia					
Larson et al. ^[9]	Outpatients with suspected dementia, >60y (n = 308)	All medications. Causality criteria used to assess association of drug with cognitive symptoms	Suspected drug was discontinued or reduced. Improved cognition defined by: MMSE ↑2 points, MDS ↑1.5 points and WAIS ↑10 points	Sedative/hypnotic: OR 5.89 (2.3-15.0) Antihypertensive: OR 4.26 (1.6-11.1)	BZD (n = 16) most common. Other medications: methyldopa, hydrochlorothiazide, reserpine, propranolol, major tranquillisers, pethidine (meperidine), aspirin (acetylsalicylic acid), cimetidine, insulin, amoxapine, amantadine
Delirium					
Inouye & Charpentier ^[5]	Medical patients, ≥70y (n = 196)	Anticonvulsants, major tranquillisers, antiemetics, opioids, >3 medications added	CAM every 48h	>3 medications added: RR 2.9 (1.6-5.4)	Advantages: drug had to be present at least 24h before onset of delirium
Rogers et al.[34]	Elective hip or knee surgical patients, ≥60y (n = 46)	Two drug categories: (i) propranolol/scopolamine/flurazepam; (ii) morphine equivalents: opioids, analgesic, hypnotic and tranquilliser	DSM-III on post-operative day 4	Scopolamine, propanolol/flurazepam significantly related to delirium (p = 0.0028)	Disadvantages: Grouping of medications. Unclear temporal relationship between exposure and delirium. Infrequent assessment of delirium
Marcantonio et al. ^[35]	Surgical patients, >50y (n = 91 cases, 154 control individuals)	Opioids, BZD, AC (antihistamines, TCAs, antiemetics and certain antipsychotics)	Daily ratings post- operative days 2-5 using CAM and Chart Medicus criteria	Pethidine: OR 2.7 (1.3-5.5) Pethidine epidural: OR 2.4 (1.3-4.4) Pethidine PCA: OR 2.1 (0.4-10.7) BZD: OR 3.0 (1.3-6.8) BZD long acting: OR 5.4 (1.0-29.2) BZD short acting: OR 2.6 (1.1-6.5)	Advantages: nested case control (matched on risk for delirium) – allows for better accounting for confounding by indication (e.g. preferential use of pethidine in the cognitively impaired). Drug had to be present 24h before delirium (eliminates exposure given in response to delirium)
Schor et al. ^[36]	Medical/surgical patients (included nursing home admissions), ≥65y (n = 291)	BZD, opioids, NSAIDs, antipsychotics, digoxin, H_2 antagonists, corticosteroids, AC (antihistamines, ipratropium, oxybutynin, atropine)	Daily ratings using DSI (based on DSM-III) ^[37]	Opioids: OR 2.5 (1.2-5.2) Antipsychotics: OR 4.5 (1.8-10.5)	Disadvantages: Antipsychotics may have been prescribed in response to delirium. Did not specify which exposure time point was used in analyses
Francis et al. ^[7]	Medical patients from community, ≥70y (n = 229)	Psychoactive (minor tranquillisers, sedatives/hypnotics, opioids), AC (not specified)	Evaluations every 48h using DSM-III-R ^[38]	Psychoactive agents: OR 3.9 (1.4-10.8)	Advantages: Assessed causality. Other drugs associated with delirium using causality criteria: opioids, BZD, AC, NSAIDs, methyldopa. Disadvantages: Only looked at baseline drug use. Did not separate prevalent and incident cases

icant risk factor perhaps because of limited power to detect an association. Interestingly, the second study did not find individual drug classes to increase the risk for delirium; however, the addition of 3 or more new medications during the 48 hours preceding the onset of delirium increased the risk almost 3-fold.^[5] Unlike experimental studies, most epidemiological evaluations have not found an independent association between anticholinergic drugs and delirium.^[7,35-40] One difficulty is that studies have used inconsistent definitions of anticholinergic drugs. For example, some studies included antipsychotics and tricyclic antidepressants as anticholinergic drugs.^[35,36] whereas others do not specify which agents were included.[7,39,40] making interpretation of results difficult.

4.2 Hypnotics/Sedatives

Benzodiazepines have a wide range of CNS effects such as sedation, drowsiness, memory difficulties and lack of coordination. Single dose and short term studies indicate impaired learning of verbal and visual information, slowed psychomotor performance and impaired vigilance.[29,46-48] Anterograde amnesic effects are greater following use of higher potency and shorter-acting benzodiazepines. Little information is available describing the magnitude of cognitive effects in elderly patients taking benzodiazepines for therapeutic reasons. Tolerance appears to develop to some of these effects with multiple dose administration in healthy elderly patients; however, the elderly may develop tolerance more slowly when compared with younger individuals.^[28,49] Some evidence exists for persistent cognitive and psychomotor impairments with long term benzodiazepine use. [50-55] The strongest evidence for benzodiazepine-related impaired cognition in the elderly is from a study that documented the improvement of cognitive deficits upon drug withdrawal.[9] The sedative properties of benzodiazepines do not fully explain these impairments.^[56,57]

Use of benzodiazepines in hospitalised patients has been associated with increased risk of delirium in some,^[35] but not all studies.^[5,36] Users of long-

Foreman ^[39]	Medical patients, ≥60y (n = 71)	Sedative/hypnotics, analgesics, AC (not specified) = all grouped into one variable	Prospective daily. Confusion defined by MMSE and CAC	Number of drugs (p-value not specified)	Disadvantages: Grouping of medications. Unclear temporal relationship between exposure and delirium
Gustafson et al. ^[40]	Hip fracture surgical patients, ≥65y (n = 111)	Antidepressants, antipsychotics, BZD, AC (not specified), antiparkinsonians	Prospective daily assessment DSM-III	Drugs not associated [AC drugs (p = 0.09)]	Disadvantages: Only looked at baseline drug use. Did not separate prevalent and incident cases
Williams et al. ^[41]	Hip fracture surgical patients, ≥60y (n = 170)	Baseline – diuretics, tranquilliser; during hospital stay – opioids, tranquilliser, sedatives	Daily assessment of 4 symptoms post-operative days 1-5	Drugs not associated	

AC = anticholinergic; BZD = benzodiazepine; CAC = clinician assessment of confusion; CAM = confusion assessment method; CI = confidence intervals; DSI = delirium symptom interview; DSM-III = Diagnostic and Statistical Manual of Mental Disorders, 3rd ed; DSM-III-R = DSM-III revised version; MDS = modified dementia rating scale; MMSE = Mini-Mental State Examination; NSAIDs = nonsteroidal anti-inflammatory drugs; OR = odds ratio; PCA = patient controlled analgesia; RR = relative risk; TCA = tricyclic antidepressant; WAIS = Wechsler Adult Intelligence Scale.

Drug-Induced Cognition Disorders in the Elderly

a Relative risks and odds ratios represent the increased risk of the specific drug class compared with no use of the agent. Results of most cohort studies are usually expressed as relative risks, whereas results of case control studies are expressed as odds ratios.

Table III. Drugs implicated in causing delirium or dementia

Drug/drug class	Strength of data to support association ^a	Clinical implications
Benzodiazepines	S (+)	Avoid use if possible. If use is warranted, use short-acting agents at low doses
Antidepressants:		SSRIs and RIMAs are preferred over high anticholinergic
TCAs, trazodone	M to S (+)	antidepressants (tertiary TCAs). TCAs may be okay in low doses
SSRIs, RIMAs	M to S (0)	
Anticholinergics	M to S (0/+)	Within a class of medications, select an agent with the least anticholinergic properties. Look for additive effects; multiple medication classes have anticholinergic properties
Antipsychotics	M (+)	Potential to cause cognitive effects may be related to anticholinergic properties, but even low anticholinergic antipsychotics have caused impaired cognition. Risperidone or olanzapine may be preferable, but selection should be patient-specific
Lithium	M (+)	Many drugs used by the elderly interact with lithium and can increase risk of toxicity (thiazide diuretics, NSAIDs)
Analgesics:		Use opioids judiciously, after non-opioid alternatives. Avoid
opioids	M to S (+)	pethidine (meperidine), which may be the worst offender.
non-opioid [paracetamol (acetaminophen), NSAIDs]	M to S (0)	Adequate pain relief is important, as this can be related to delirium
Antiparkinsonian agents	M to S (+)	If patient is experiencing cognitive effects, discontinue or reduce antiparkinsonian therapy one agent at a time. First adjust adjunctive therapy [anticholinergics, selegiline (deprenyl), amantadine] as patient condition allows
Anticonvulsants:		Minimal impairment with monotherapy and serum
phenobarbital (phenobarbitone),	M (+)	concentrations within therapeutic range. Phenobarbital and
primidone others	M (0)	primidone appear to have more effects on cognition
Antihypertensive agents:		Group A antihypertensive agents have been well studied and
group A: thiazides, calcium antagonists	M to S (0)	rarely cause cognitive impairment. Preferable to avoid
(amlodipine, diltiazem), ACE inhibitors (captopril, enalapril) and β-blockers (atenolol)		reserpine, clonidine, methyldopa in the elderly
group B: reserpine, clonidine, methyldopa	L to M (+)	
Digoxin	L (+)	
Histamine H ₂ receptor antagonists	L (+/0)	All have similar propensity to cause effects on cognition. Incidence is rare; more likely in elderly hospitalised patients. Reduce dose in patients with renal impairment
Histamine H ₁ receptor antagonists diphenhydramine	M (+)	Second generation antihistamines (loratadine, astemizole) preferred, provided no contraindications exist (drug interactions). Certrizine has intermediate sedative effects
Corticosteroids	M (+)	
Pulmonary agents ^b	L (0)	Theophylline or ipratropium not likely to produce cognitive and psychomotor impairment with usual doses

a Represents strongest evidence available. All classes have been implicated in causing cognition disorders from case reports.

b See Ramsdell et al. [44] and Newman et al. [45] for discussion of the effects of these agents.

L = low; evidence based on case reports/case series; M = moderate; evidence based on 1 or more study, may be conflicting reports; NSAIDs = nonsteroidal anti-inflammatory drugs; RIMA = reversible inhibitors of monoamine oxidase; S = strong evidence based on > 1 well controlled study; SSRI = selective serotonin (5-hydroxytryptamine; 5-HT) reuptake inhibitor; TCA = tricyclic antidepressant; + signifies associated with drug-induced cognition disorders; 0 signifies minimal risk for drug-induced cognition disorders.

acting benzodiazepines were significantly more likely to experience delirium compared with users of short-acting agents or non-users (p = 0.02).^[35] Importantly, the risk of delirium was higher in those taking higher doses of benzodiazepines.^[35]

Zolpidem, a nonbenzodiazepine short-acting hypnotic, is perceived to be a safer alternative to benzodiazepines.^[58,59] Few studies have examined the effect of zolpidem on cognition in the elderly. In a 3-way, double-blind crossover study in 24 healthy elderly, zolpidem 5 or 10mg did not produce impairments on tests of attention, memory and perception after 7 days of therapy when compared with placebo.^[60] In another study, zolpidem 5 to 20mg reduced performance on a measure of attention after 2 nights of therapy when compared with placebo.[61] Zolpidem appears to produce impairments that resemble those seen with triazolam with reductions in memory that correspond with peak concentration.^[62] The scarcity of long term trials and past experience with new hypnotics initially believed to be safer suggests that clinicians should remain concerned about possible adverse effects on cognition, especially in frail elderly patients.

4.3 Antidepressants

Several clinical studies have assessed the effects of antidepressants on global cognition^[63-67] or specific aspects of cognition^[33,68-71] in the elderly (table IV).^[72] Depression can cause impairment in cognitive processes as part of the disease, as well as coexist with dementia, which may make it difficult to assess the cognitive effects of antidepressants. The treatment of depression often results in improvement in cognitive abilities; adverse effects of antidepressants may mask or blunt this improvement.

Tricyclic antidepressants are often considered to be the most troublesome agents, especially amitriptyline. [69,72,73] Amitriptyline is associated with reduced reaction time, impaired retrieval from secondary memory, [69] and impaired information processing. [68] However, even tricyclic antidepressants with lower anticholinergic properties can

cause deficits in cognition. Nortriptyline was found to impair immediate recall in formerly depressed patients undergoing single-blind withdrawal of nortriptyline (switched to placebo). [33] Medications with anticholinergic actions are a special concern for patients with Alzheimer's disease. Low dose imipramine (i.e. 25 mg/day), [67] but not amitriptyline 25 mg/day, [63] was well tolerated in patients with depression and Alzheimer's disease. Patients with Alzheimer's disease have shown significant improvements in MMSE score with placebo. [64,67]

The effects of trazodone on cognition in the elderly have mainly been investigated in single dose healthy volunteer studies. Amitriptyline 50mg impaired attention, vigilance and tracking performance, while trazodone 100mg only impaired the most difficult tracking test compared with placebo in 15 older volunteers (>60 years). [74] Trazodone 100mg impaired immediate memory, while amitriptyline impaired retrieval from secondary memory and reduced psychomotor speed compared with placebo. [75]

Evidence exists for minimal or even improved effects on specific measurements of cognition with the SSRIs and reversible inhibitors of monoamine oxidase A (RIMAs) [e.g. moclobemide, brofaromine]. [64,68,71,73,76] Performance on tests of perceptual function improved with fluoxetine treatment and was maintained throughout the 6-week study period. In contrast, performance declined significantly from baseline at 1 week and returned to baseline within 3 weeks in the group receiving amitriptyline. At all time points, performance was significantly better in participants receiving fluoxetine than amitriptyline. [68] SSRIs appear to be well tolerated in patients with cognitive decline/dementia. [63,77] SSRIs and RIMAs may improve cognitive function by mechanisms separate from their antidepressant effects.^[73] Little is known about newer antidepressants (e.g. nefazodone, venlafaxine).

Table IV. Summary of studies evaluating the cognitive effects of antidepressants

Reference	Population	Study design	Treatments	Duration	Aspects of cognition tested	Results
Meyers et al. ^[33]	Recovered depressed patients taking nortriptyline; >60y (n = 9)	sb (withdrawal to placebo)	Placebo	Assessed 2- 4wk before and 2wk after withdrawal	List-learning test (M) MMSE (G)	MMSE: no significant change in MMSE, nortriptyline (27.0 \pm 3.0) versus placebo (28.4 \pm 3) Immediate recall was improved with placebo versus nortriptyline for trial 2 and trial 3 (p < 0.05) Delayed free recall: no difference
Taragano et al. ^[63]	Patients with depression and Alzheimer's disease; mean age 72y (n = 37)	db, r	Fluoxetine 10 mg/day Amitriptyline 25 mg/day	45 day	MMSE (G)	MMSE improved significantly compared with baseline for patients in both treatment groups, overall mean increase of 2.4 points. No difference between treatments. However, more patients withdrew from treatment with amitriptyline versus fluoxetine (11 vs 4). 10 patients in the amitriptyline group withdrew from treatment because of confusion or disorientation
Roth et al. ^[64]	Two groups: 60- 90y: (i) dementia with depressive symptoms (n = 511); (ii) depression with cognitive decline (n = 183)	db, r, pc, mc	Moclobemide 400 mg/day. Placebo	42 day	SCAG-factor 1 (G) MMSE (G)	Intention-to-treat analysis A. Dementia/depressive symptoms MMSE: patients receiving moclobemide had a mean higher difference from baseline compared with placebo recipients (2.6 vs 1.9; p < 0.05) SCAG: mean increase 3.2 (moclobemide) vs 2.5 (placebo); p < 0.05 B. Depression/cognitive decline MMSE: mean change from baseline improved for both groups, 2.4 (moclobemide) vs 2.1 (placebo); p = NS SCAG: mean change from baseline significantly higher with moclobemide (3.3) versus placebo (2.4); p < 0.005
Hoyberg et al. ^[65]	In- and out-patients with no cognitive impairment; 60-85y (n = 115)	db, r, mc	Mirtazapine 15-45 mg/day Amitriptyline 30-90 mg/day	6wk	Brief Cognitive Rating Scale (G)	Intention-to-treat analysis Nonsignificant improvements in global cognition were observed for patients receiving both treatments (mean change \pm SD): mirtazapine (3.7 \pm 4.5), amitriptyline (4.0 \pm 3.9), p = NS
Geretsegger et al. ^[66]	In- and out-patients with no dementia; 61-85y (n = 106)	db, r, mc	Fluoxetine 20-40 mg/day Paroxetine 20-60 mg/day	6wk	SCAG – cognitive subscale (G) MMSE (G)	Intention-to-treat analysis SCAG: paroxetine group had a higher mean change (improvement) from baseline at week 3 (p = 0.03) and week 6 (p < 0.01) compared with fluoxetine group MMSE: paroxetine group had a higher mean change (improvement) from baseline at week 3 (2.6 vs 1.2, p = 0.02) and week 6 (2.3 vs 1.1, p = NS) compared with fluoxetine group

110

14 1 1003	FILL 1 2		A '. ' . ' ' .	40.1	0 % 15 . 5%	OW IE : FEL T
Kerr et al. ^[68]	Elderly, selection criteria not specified (n = 66)	db, r	Amitriptyline 75 mg/day Fluoxetine 20 mg/day	42 day	Critical Fusion Flicker Test (P), Choice Reaction Time (ATN), Word Recognition Task (M), Sternberg Memory Scanning Task (M)	Critical Fusion Flicker Test: patients receiving fluoxetine had improved scores at all time points when compared with amitriptyline recipients (p < 0.005). For patients receiving amitriptyline, performance declined significantly at 1 week but improved (close to baseline level) from week 1 to week 3 Reaction Time: patients receiving fluoxetine had improved reaction time at week 1 (p < 0.005) compared with amitriptyline recipients. Patients in both treatment groups improved by week 6 Tests of memory: no data presented. Authors state performance improved over time with both drugs, more slowly with amitriptyline
Branconnier et al. ^[69]	Outpatients with depression and cognitive impairment; ≥60y (n = 75)	db, r, pc, sb (placebo run- in)	Mianserin 30-60 mg/day Amitriptyline 75-150 mg/day Placebo	35 day	Hands Test (ATN), Bender Visual Motor Gestalt Test (C), Yerkes Test (CR), Analogies Test (CR), Digit-Digit Coding (ATN), Sperling's Perceptual Trace (M), Guild Memory Test (M), Gottschaldt Hidden Figures Test (P), Reaction Time Test (ATN)	63 completed study Bender Visual Motor Gestalt Test: amitriptyline recipients worse than placebo recipients (p < 0.01) Guild Memory Test: no significant differences between groups Digit-Digit Coding: patients receiving amitriptyline had worse performance Impairment Index (composite score of 9 tests): patients receiving amitriptyline were worse on day 35, other groups had improved (p < 0.005)
Siegfried & O'Connolly ^[70]	Patients with depression, but no dementia; ≥65y (n = 75)	db, r	Maprotiline 100 mg/day Mianserin 40 mg/day Nomifensine 100 mg/day	4wk	Critical Fusion Flicker Test (P), Digit span (ATN), Cancellation test (ATN), Choice reaction time (ATN), Paired associate learning (M)	Critical Fusion Flicker Test: all groups improved, no differences. Improvements were faster with nomifensine > mianserin >maprotiline Cancellation Test: recipients receiving nomifensine were significantly better than maprotiline and mianserin recipients Tests of memory: all drugs improved performance, no significant differences Reaction time improved for all groups (nomifensine, mianserin > maprotiline)
Pancheri et al. ^[71]	Outpatients; 60-85y (n = 30)	db, r	Moclobemide 400-600 mg/day Imipramine 75-100 mg/day	60 day	Benton Visual Renton Test (M), Digit Substitution Test (ATN)	In the moclobemide group 5 patients withdrew from treatment; however, none related to cognitive effects Benton Visual Renton Test: moclobemide group improved significantly at day 60 compared with baseline (p < 0.05) Digit Substitution Test: moclobemide group improved significantly at days 30, 45, 60 compared with baseline (p < 0.01) No significant changes in any tests for imipramine group

ATN = attention; C = construct; co = crossover; CR = concept formation and reasoning; db = double-blind; G = global assessment; M = memory; mc = multicentre study; MMSE = Mini-Mental State Examination; NS = not significant; P = perceptual tests; pc = placebo-controlled; r = randomised; sb = single-blind; SCAG = Sandoz Clinical Assessment Geriatric Scale.

Drug-Induced Cognition Disorders in the Elderly

4.4 Antipsychotics

Antipsychotic drugs are often used to treat behavioural problems associated with dementia. Few studies have examined whether antipsychotic drug use impairs cognition in the elderly. In healthy volunteer (non-elderly) studies, haloperidol resulted in impairment in various aspects of cognition. [78-80] Based on anticholinergic effects, it is often assumed that low potency agents which have high anticholinergic activity (e.g. thioridazine) are more likely to worsen cognition than high potency agents (e.g. haloperidol); however, this assumption has not been carefully studied.[81] Furthermore. antipsychotics affect many neurotransmitters, thus other mechanisms are likely to mediate the effects on cognition. A single-blind study in patients with Alzheimer's disease found a decline in MMSE scores with use of haloperidol 1 to 5 mg/day, an agent with lower anticholinergic effects relative to comparable doses of low-potency agents. [82] However, a double-blind placebo-controlled trial did not find a detrimental effect on MMSE after 6 weeks of haloperidol 2 to 3 mg/day.[83] One epidemiological study reported that the initiation of a antipsychotic coincided with a more rapid decline in global cognition of dementia participants after controlling for several factors.^[84]

A few studies have evaluated the cognitive effects of newer atypical antipsychotics (e.g. risperidone, clozapine). Clozapine was evaluated in a double-blind, placebo-controlled trial to determine whether it was effective in treating druginduced psychosis in patients with Parkinson's disease. Low dose treatment (average dose 24.7mg) did not have a negative effect on MMSE scores over a 4-week period. [85] Clozapine has strong anticholinergic effects, so higher doses may be problematic in the elderly. Use of risperidone (1 or 2 mg/day) in patients with Alzheimer's disease did not result in a significant reduction in MMSE score over a 12-week period compared with placebo. [86] Although these agents deserve further study, atypical agents may be preferable in the elderly because of a lower risk for other adverse events.

4.5 Lithium

Several case reports indicate that lithium has effects on cognition (delirium, impaired memory and psychomotor performance),^[87,88] but controlled studies in the elderly are lacking. In a study of 46 long term lithium users undergoing blinded discontinuation and resumption of lithium therapy, scores on tests of memory, tapping speed and associative productivity improved significantly during the time off lithium.^[89] Impairments can be present with therapeutic serum concentrations.

4.6 Analgesics

Opioid use was associated with delirium in 3 of 5 large prospective studies of hospitalised patients (table II);^[7,35,36] however, one study grouped opioids with other psychoactive agents which makes interpretation difficult for this study.[7] In one evaluation, the only opioid considered to be a risk factor for delirium was pethidine. The association of morphine, fentanyl, oxycodone and codeine with delirium did not reach statistical significance, although these agents were used less frequently than pethidine.^[35] Pethidine has an active metabolite, norpethidine (half-life of 15 to 30 hours), which can accumulate in elderly patients with renal insufficiency and is associated with CNS toxicity. Pethidine also has weak anticholinergic activity. [23] Route of administration may play a role in risk for delirium. Epidural^[35] and intramuscular administration^[90] of opioids resulted in higher risk of confusion/delirium when compared with patient controlled analgesia.

Non-opioid analgesics may also cause cognitive changes. Paracetamol (acetaminophen) does not cause delirium at usual dosages but may in an overdose situation. Delirium or confusion may be present with acute or chronic salicylate intoxication.^[91] The elderly may experience confusion with chronic salicylate intoxication with therapeutic doses of aspirin (acetylsalicylic acid).^[91]

Disparate effects of nonsteroidal anti-inflammatory drugs (NSAIDs) on the CNS have been reported. Various NSAIDs have been implicated in

causing delirium, psychosis and cognitive impairment in case reports. [92-94] Clinical trials have not demonstrated significant adverse effects on cognition after 3 weeks of naproxen^[95] or 1 week of indomethacin treatment. [96] More NSAIDs have been hypothesised to be protective against the development of cognitive impairment. Results from epidemiological evaluations have been mixed, indicating that NSAIDs have a beneficial.^[97] detrimental^[98,99] or no effect^[100,101] on tests of cognition. However, it appears high dose NSAIDs may be associated with a decline in memory. [98,99] The summary of 3 case control studies indicated a 50% reduction in prevalence of Alzheimer's disease in participants reporting NSAID use.[102] It is likely that NSAIDs cause subtle cognitive impairment especially in high doses in susceptible individuals, but the overall incidence is rare.

4.7 Antiparkinsonian Agents

Confusion is relatively rare in the early stages of Parkinson's disease. As the disease progresses, patients frequently experience neuropsychiatric complications (e.g. visual hallucinations, delusions, confusion, delirium). [103] The aetiologies of these complications are often difficult to determine in that they can be related to the progression of the disease, co-existing dementia or antiparkisonian therapy. The prevalence of coexisting dementia is 20 to 30%. Risk factors for drug-induced confusion include increasing age, presence of dementia, and high doses of antiparkinsonian agents. [103]

All medications used to treat Parkinson's disease have been implicated in causing confusion/delirium (anticholinergics, amantadine, levodopa, dopamine agonists, monoamine oxidase inhibitors). These agents may produce minimal problems early in the disease, 104 but confusion/delirium is more common with advanced disease especially in the patient who is taking several antiparkinsonian agents. Patients with mild to moderate Parkinson's disease taking levodopa for up to 6 months had no change on a test of memory. Small improvements occurred in tests of frontal

lobe function (verbal fluency) and one test of attention.[104] However, long term therapy with levodopa may have different effects on aspects of cognition. [105] Increased confusion and hallucinations were reported in a small case series of elderly patients that were switched from standard to the controlled release formulation of levodopa-carbidopa.[106] The dopamine agonists differ in their affinity for the dopamine subreceptors, and it is not clear if this translates into differences in propensity to cause neuropsychiatric adverse effects. For patients experiencing cognitive effects, adjunctive therapy [e.g. anticholinergics, amantadine, selegiline (deprenyl)] should be tapered slowly to the lowest effective dose or discontinued as patient condition allows.[103,107]

4.8 Anticonvulsants

While considerable research has evaluated the cognitive effects of anticonvulsants in children and middle age adults, [108,109] only 1 study could be found that was conducted in the elderly. [110] The effects of phenytoin and valproic acid (sodium valproate) on tests of attention, concentration and memory were evaluated in 47 older patients with new onset epilepsy. 38 study participants completed 6 weeks of therapy and both treatments had minimal effects on cognition; however, phenytoin produced less detriment on tests of attention. Findings at 1 year were similar; however, there were high rates of treatment discontinuation in this study. [110]

Despite limited information in the elderly, several large trials have been conducted in middle age adults. In the Veteran's Affairs Cooperative study, participants (n = 622) with well-defined seizure types, were randomised to receive carbamazepine, phenytoin, primidone or phenobarbital (phenobarbitone). The overall behavioural toxicity score, based on transformed data of several subscales, indicated that carbamazepine had fewer effects on cognition than the other treatments at 3 months. However, results on individual subscales varied with no consistent pattern of one drug being superior. When the authors tabulated the num-

Drug Safety 1999 Aug; 21 (2)

Table V. Summary of studies evaluating the cognitive effects of antihypertensive agents

Reference	No. of patients [age range (y)]	Study design	Treatments	Duration	Aspects of cognition tested	Results
Prince et al. ^[119]	2584 [65-74]	sb, r, pc, mc	Atenolol 50 mg/day Hydrochlorothiazide 25 mg/day plus amiloride 2.5 mg/day Placebo	54mo	Paired associate learning test (M), Trail Making test A (ATN)	Intention-to-treat analysis No difference between groups on either test. Memory tended to decline in all groups over time. Time to take trailmaking improved over time
Starr et al. ^[123]	81 [70-85] ^a	db, r	Captopril 12.5-25mg bid Bendrofluazide 2.5-5 mg/day	24wk	Logical Memory Immediate & Delayed (M), Paired Associates Recall (M), Raven's Progressive Matrices (CR), Trail Making A (ATN), Anomalous Sentences Repetition Test (M, ATN)	Intention-to-treat analysis No differences between treatment groups for any tests. Patients with highest DBP reduction (highest quartile) had improved scores on Anomalous Sentence Repetition Test (p = 0.012) and Paired Associates Recall (p = 0.044) compared with patients in lowest quartile Type II error possible
Applegate et al. ^[121]	242 [≥65] ^b	db, r, mc	Atenolol 50-100 mg/day Enalapril 5 -20 mg/day Diltiazem SR 60-180mg bid	16wk	Digit Symbol Substitution Test (ATN), Rey Auditory Verbal Learning Test (M),Taylor Complex Figure Tests (M), Rey-Osterreith test	No difference in change from baseline between treatments at week 16 Digit Symbol Substitution Test: treatment with atenolol was associated with a significant decline from baseline compared with treatment with diltiazem and enalapril at week 8 only (p = 0.03)
Applegate et al. ^[122]	1993 [≥60y] [¢]	db, r, mc	Step 1: chlorthalidone 12.5-25 mg/day Step 2: addition of atenolol 25-50 mg/day or reserpine 0.05-0.10 mg/day	5у	Digit Symbol Substitution Test (ATN), Letter Sets Test (CR), Addition Test (ATN), Finding A's Test (ATN), Boston Naming Test (VER), Delayed Recognition Span Test (M)	Intention-to-treat analysis No difference on any test of cognitive function between treatment and placebo group. Unable to evaluate differences between Step 1 and Step 2 treatment
Skinner et al. ^[120]	31 [60-81]	db, r, co	Atenolol 50-100 mg/day Nifedipine 30-90 mg/day	6-10wk per drug	Buschke Selective Reminding Test (M), Raven Progressive Matrices (CR), Stroop Test (ATN), Trail Making B (ATN), Finger-Tapping Test (MP), Digit Symbol Test (ATN), Vocabulary Test (VER), Block Design Test (C)	Period effect observed for Bushke Selective Reminding Test and Digit Symbol Test – only the first period was analysed Buschke Selective Reminding Test: patients treated with nifedipine recalled fewer words (9% decrease) compared with placebo recipients (p = 0.03); 16% decrease compared with atenolol group (p = 0.03) Digit Symbol Test: performance in patients receiving nifidepine tended to decline whereas performance in patients receiving atenolol tended to improve. The difference between nifedipine and atenolol (change in scores from placebo) was 4.3 codings (p = 0.04) in favour of atenolol No differences on other tests were found.

bers of 'best' and 'worst' scores for individual subscales, the phenobarbital and primidone groups received the 'worst' scores more than the other groups. Some have questioned the validity of these conclusions based on statistical issues. [108,113] Other studies have reported no significant differences between carbamazepine and phenytoin, after controlling for seizure frequency and serum concentrations. [108,109] Carbamazepine and valproic acid had minimal effects after 1 year of therapy. [114]

In general, use of monotherapy and maintaining serum concentrations within the therapeutic range will minimise cognitive problems in most patients. [108,109] Nonetheless, all anticonvulsants have dose-related adverse effects. Based on nonelderly studies, phenobarbital and primidone appear to have more cognitive effects than carbamazepine, phenytoin or valproic acid. [108,113] Additional study is needed to assess the cognitive effects of newer agents (vigabatrin, gabapentin, tiagabine, topiramate) in the elderly; however these agents appear to have minimal effects on cognition in non-elderly populations.

4.9 Antihypertensive Agents

In longitudinal studies, higher blood pressure in mid-life was associated with impaired cognitive function in later years.[115] Concerns have been raised that antihypertensive therapy itself may adversely affect cognition. Agents that affect the catecholamine system (methyldopa, clonidine, reserpine) are most commonly cited as having an adverse effect on cognition; however, there has been no rigorous testing of the effects of the drugs on cognitive function. [29,32,116,117] In any case, these medications are not typically used in the elderly. Initial reports suggested that lipophilic βblockers (e.g. propranolol) had a greater risk of CNS effects than hydrophilic agents (e.g. atenolol); however, many studies have disputed these findings.^[32,118] The overall incidence of β-blockerinduced cognitive impairment is rare.[117,119-121]

With the availability of many effective hypertensive agents, studies have focused on differentiating the effects of therapy on quality of life, with

Intellectual Process Scale-Luria-	Performance improved in treatment and placebo
Nebraska, Trail Making Test (ATN),	control group (practice effect). In patients receiving
Smith Symbol Digit Modalities Test	only hydrochlorothiazide there was no deterioration
(ATN), Hooper Visual Organization	on any test from baseline in the low and high dosage
Test (P), Benton Visual Retention	groups. For combination therapy there was no
Test (M), Finger Tapping Test (MP),	deterioration among treatments. There were
Token Test (VER), Controlled Word	differences in the number of tests that showed
Production (VER)	improvement (practice effect): reserpine (1 test)
	versus metoprolol (5 tests); versus methyldopa (8

tests); versus hydralazine (9 tests)

db, r

Goldstein et 690 [≥60]d

al.[117]

ATN = attention; bid = twice daily; BP = blood pressure; C = construct; co = crossover; CR = concept formation and reasoning; db = double-blind; DBP = diastolic blood pressure; G = global assessment; M = memory; mc = multicentre study; MP = motor performance; P = perceptual tests; pc = placebo-controlled; r = randomised; sb = single-blind; SR = slow release; VER = verbal function.

Hydrochlorothiazide: low dosage 12mo

(25 mg/day once to twice daily)

or high dosage (50mg once to

twice daily). If BP not controlled,

randomised to: hydralazine 50-

200 mg/day or methyldopa 500-2000 mg/day or metoprolol

100-400 mg/day or reserpine

0.05-0.25 mg/day

Drug-Induced Cognition in the Elderly

a Mini-Mental state examination between 20 to 28.

Women; Mini-Mental state examination ≥24.

Subset with isolated systolic hypertension.

d Men.

cognition being one important aspect (table V). Data are available from 2 large randomised, long term, controlled trials, which indicate minimal negative effects on cognition of commonly used antihypertensive agents.[119,122] The Medical Research Council trial found no difference between atenolol, hydrochlorothiazide and amiloride and placebo after 54 months of treatment in 2584 patients with moderate hypertension.[119] Investigators of the Systolic Hypertension in the Elderly Program (SHEP) reported no differences on various tests between active treatment (chlorthalidone with or without atenolol or reserpine) versus placebo after 5 years of therapy. [122] It was not possible to examine if differences existed between Step 1 (chlorthalidone alone) and Step 2 (need for addition of atenolol or reserpine) subgroups of active treatment.

Several shorter term studies have also been conducted.[120,121,123] In a comparison of atenolol, enalapril and diltiazem, no differences were found in tests of cognitive function after 16 weeks.[121] However, in a crossover trial, nifedipine but not atenolol, significantly reduced verbal learning and memory.[120] Other dihydropyridine calcium antagonists (e.g. nimodipine) have resulted in improved cognition in dementia patients, [124] thus it is not clear why nifedipine was found to have detrimental effects.[120] A randomised study in previously untreated hypertensive patients found no detrimental effects on various aspects of cognition for captopril and bendrofluazide (no placebo group) after 24 weeks of treatment.[123] Patients with the greatest decrease in diastolic blood pressure had the greatest improvements in a few of the cognitive tests compared with persons with lower levels of blood pressure reduction. This study is of particular interest because it included patients with cognitive impairment who may be more susceptible to adverse effects, a group often excluded from previous trials.

In large clinical trials, the use of thiazide diuretics, calcium antagonists (amlodipine, diltiazem), ACE inhibitors (captopril, enalapril) and β -blockers (atenolol) rarely caused cognitive impairment.

Large clinical trials spanning 4 to 5 years have not demonstrated that lowering blood pressure with drug therapy in older individuals improves cognition, [119,122] which might have been expected with the prevention of ischaemic events.

4.10 Other Cardiovascular Agents

Digoxin toxicity can present with various neuropsychiatric symptoms including delirium, confusion, hallucinations and delusions, [125-127] but the overall incidence is rare. [128,129] Confusion has also been reported in patients with therapeutic plasma digoxin concentrations. [130,131] Case reports of confusion and other neuropsychiatric symptoms have been reported with various cardiovascular agents including quinidine, [132] tocainide, [133] and lidocaine (lignocaine). [29,134]

4.11 Histamine Receptor Antagonists

4.11.1 H₂ Antagonists

Delirium has been reported with all H₂ antagonists but is relatively rare.[135-142] A large prospective study did not find an increased risk of delirium with H₂ antagonists;^[36] however, a relationship may have been obscured if only a subset of patients are at increased risk. Cimetidine has received the most attention which is likely to be because of its widespread use as the first available agent in this class.[142] H2 antagonist-induced delirium has reoccurred with rechallenge.[139,143] Some patients can tolerate a different H2 antagonist without reemergence of symptoms, whereas cross-sensitivity between agents has also been described.[136,142] Evidence exists for full or partial reversal of symptoms with physostigmine administration, suggesting that an indirect effect on cholinergic transmission may be involved in mediating drug-induced effects on cognition.[20-22]

4.11.2 H₁ Receptor Antagonists

Diphenhydramine has been found to impair attention, short term verbal memory, and concentration and reaction time in older volunteers^[16] and cause delirium in patients.^[144] In healthy nonelderly patients, second generation antihistamines (loratadine, astemizole) cause less sedation and

cognitive impairment,^[145,146] and therefore are preferable choices for the elderly, provided no contraindications exist. Certrizine, also a second generation agent, may have intermediate sedative effects ^[145]

4.12 Corticosteroids

Glucocorticoids have been associated with reversible memory impairment, psychosis and dementia. [147] A cross-sectional study was conducted in 25 patients between the ages of 22 and 72 years (median age 55 years) and 25 matched clinic control participants. [148] Treated patients were taking prednisone in dosages of 5 to 40 mg/day for at least a year and demonstrated poorer paragraph recall ('explicit memory') but were equivalent on tests of implicit memory when compared with the matched controls.

4.13 Other Agents

Delirium has been documented with cytokines and antineoplastic agents; [149-151] however, the use of multiagent chemotherapy and adjunctive medications makes it difficult to determine the causative agent. There have been case reports of cognitive impairment and other psychiatric symptoms with antibacterials, antimalarials and antifungals. [29,30] Although often overlooked, metoclopramide has been associated with confusion and extrapyramidal symptoms in the elderly. [152]

5. Detection and Management/Prevention

Drug-induced delirium and dementia are usually encountered in different clinical settings (inpatient versus outpatient); therefore, the discussion of detection and management will be treated separately. General principles for preventing druginduced cognitive disorders are listed in table VI.

5.1 Drug-Induced Delirium

The ultimate goal is to prevent delirium; however, this will be difficult in many clinical situations. Since delirium is common in the hospitalised older patient, we advocate assessment of cognition in most older patients upon admission using a brief screening instrument. [4] General principles to minimise delirium include the avoidance of medication likely to cause delirium if alternative medications exist and using the lowest effective dose. Patients should be monitored carefully when multiple agents with CNS effects are required. These principles are especially important for patients with baseline cognitive impairment, who are at an increased risk for delirium.

Early resolution of delirium hinges on accurate and prompt identification of the syndrome. Delirium is under-recognised by clinicians; studies indicate that 32 to 67% of delirious patients went unrecognised by the clinicians who were caring for them.^[4] Furthermore, delirium is often misdiagnosed as dementia or psychiatric illness or misattributed to the normal aging process.^[4] Thus, increased clinician awareness is important to identify changes in cognitive status during the hospital

Table VI. Prevention and detection of drug-induced delirium/dementia

Take a thorough medication history, including over-the-counter medications

Assess cognition of elderly patients upon hospital admission and at times when clinical status changes Minimise medication use:

treat conditions with nonpharmacological measures when possible

review drug list periodically, attempt discontinuation of medications when feasible

Adjust medication doses appropriately for age-related changes in pharmacokinetics and pharmacodynamics (START LOW, GO SLOW) Assess for potential subtle cognitive changes whenever new drugs are initiated or doses increased

Consider trials of sequentially eliminating drugs suspected of impairing cognition. Assess cognition and desired therapeutic effect after discontinuation

course. Important to note is that not all delirious patients exhibit agitation, hallucinations and inappropriate behaviour. Many older patients may exhibit a hypoactive form of delirium that may manifest as lethargy and decreased activity.^[2,4]

If delirium is suspected, a comprehensive history and physical examination should be conducted to identify all precipitating factors. As part of this work up, reviewing medication use will assist in determining if the delirium is drug-related. First, new medications or dosage increases should be identified and then a temporal relationship should be established between these changes and onset of symptoms.

Delirium may be caused by many concurrent factors and management should address each suspected factor. In terms of drug-related delirium, the implicated medication should be discontinued, if warranted, or the dose should be reduced. Supportive care such as ensuring adequate sleep, nutrition, hydration and providing emotional reassurance is important for managing the patient with delirium.^[2] If symptoms cannot be managed with supportive care, pharmacological strategies may be needed to control severe agitation and psychosis.^[153] Management of drug-induced delirium has recently been reviewed.^[153]

5.2 Drug-Induced Dementia

Almost any drug can cause subtle changes in cognition, therefore prevention may be difficult. It is important for clinicians to have an awareness that subtle changes in cognition in their elderly patients may be caused by drug therapy. Good provider prescribing may avoid some cases of druginduced dementia (table VI). A complete accounting of all medications a patient is using is important. Patients often receive medications from multiple prescribers or take over-the-counter medications, therefore it may be difficult for providers to be aware of all medication use. Medication use not accounted for may make it difficult to identify drug-related cognitive decline. For example, a person may have a recent worsening of dementia caused by an over-the-counter antihistamine; this drug-related cause of worsening symptoms may be overlooked if the clinician is unaware of the antihistamine use. Thus, we recommend that patients bring a list of medications they are taking or the actual medications to each clinic visit.

Recognition of drug-induced cognitive impairment, especially if deficits are subtle, may be difficult in the older adult. Symptoms often appear insidiously and patients may not bring the deficits to the attention of their provider. [94] Thus, patients should be assessed for subtle changes in cognition with the addition or increase in medication dosages. If a change in cognition is suspected, elimination (one at a time) of the suspected drug(s) and follow-up evaluation may be the only way to detect drug-induced cognitive impairment.

6. Conclusion

Drug-induced delirium and dementia are relatively common disorders that are under-recognised. Individuals at greatest risk are the elderly with baseline cognitive impairment. Medications should always be considered a potential cause when a patient presents with cognitive changes. Although evidence from research studies indicates that the incidence of cognitive impairment is rare for many commonly used agents, frail elderly patients may be more susceptible. Preventive strategies directed at avoiding high risk medications, appropriately adjusting doses based on age-related changes and close follow-up may prevent these conditions.

References

- American Psychiatric Association. Diagnostic and statistical manual of mental disorders. 4th ed. Washington, DC: American Psychiatric Association, 1994
- Jacobson SA. Delirium in the elderly. Psychiatr Clin North Am 1997; 20: 91-110
- Lezak MD, editor. Neuropsychological assessment. New York: Oxford University Press, 1995
- Inouye SK. The dilemma of delirium: clinical and research controversies regarding diagnosis and evaluation of delirium in hospitalized elderly medical patients. Am J Med 1994; 97 (3): 278-88
- Inouye SK, Charpentier PA. Precipitating factors for delirium in hospitalized elderly persons: predictive model and interrelationship with baseline vulnerability. JAMA 1996; 275 (11): 852-7
- Francis J. Delirium in older patients. J Am Geriatr Soc 1992; 40
 (8): 829-38

- Francis J, Martin D, Kapoor WN. A prospective study of delirium in hospitalized elderly. JAMA 1990; 263 (8): 1097-101
- Larson EB, Kukull WA, Katzman RL. Cognitive impairment: dementia and Alzheimer's disease. Annu Rev Public Health 1992; 13: 431-49
- Larson EB, Kukull WA, Buchner D, et al. Adverse drug reactions associated with global cognitive impairment in elderly persons. Ann Intern Med 1987; 107: 169-73
- van der Mast RC. Delirium: the underlying pathophysiological mechanisms and the need for clinical research [editorial]. J Psychosom Res 1996; 41 (2): 109-13
- Francis J. A half-century of delirium research: time to close the gap. J Am Geriatr Soc 1995; 43: 585-6
- Mach JR, Dysken MW, Kuskowski M, et al. Serum anticholinergic activity in hospitalized elderly with delirium: a preliminary study. J Am Geriatr Soc 1995; 43: 491-5
- Miller PS, Richardson JS, Jyu CA, et al. Association of low serum anticholinergic levels and cognitive impairment in elderly presurgical patients. Am J Psychiatry 1988; 145 (3): 342-5
- Molchan SE, Martinez RA, Hill JL, et al. Increased cognitive sensitivity to scopolamine with age and a perspective on the scopolamine model. Brain Res Brain Res Rev 1992; 17 (3): 215-26
- Ray PG, Meador KJ, Loring DW, et al. Central anticholinergic hypersensitivity in aging. J Geriatr Psychiatry Neurol 1992; 5 (2): 72-7
- Katz IR, Sands LP, Bilker W, et al. Identification of medications that cause cognitive impairment in older people: the case of oxybutynin chloride. J Am Geriatr Soc 1998; 46: 8-13
- McEvoy JP, McCue M, Spring B, et al. Effects of amantadine and trihexyphenidyl on memory in elderly normal volunteers. Am J Psychiatry 1987; 144: 573-7
- Sunderland T, Tariot PN, Weingartner H, et al. Pharmacologic modelling of Alzheimer's disease. Prog Neuropsychopharmacol Biol Psychiatry 1986; 10: 599-610
- Tune L, Carr S, Hoag E et al. Anticholinergic effects of drugs commonly prescribed for the elderly: potential means for assessing risk of delirium. Am J Psychiatry 1992; 149 (10): 1393-4
- Goff DC, Garber HJ, Jenike MA. Partial resolution of ranitidine-associated delirium with physostigmine: case report. J Clin Psychiatry 1985; 46: 400-1
- Mogelnicki SR, Waller JL, Finlayson DC. Physostigmine reversal of cimetidine-induced mental confusion. JAMA 1979; 241: 826-7
- Jenike MA, Levy JC. Physostigmine reversal of cimetidine-induced delriuim and agitation. J Clin Psychopharmacol 1983; 3: 43-4
- Eisendrath SJ, Goldman B, Douglas J, et al. Meperidine-induced delirium. Am J Psychiatry 1987; 144 (8): 1062-5
- Engelborghs S, DeDeyn PP. The neurochemistry of Alzheimer's disease. Acta Neurol Belg 1997; 97: 67-84
- Catterson ML, Preskorn SH, Martin RL. Pharmacodynamic and pharmacokinetic considerations in geriatric psychopharmacology. Psychiatr Clin North Am 1997; 20: 205-18
- Parker BM, Cusack BJ, Vestal RE. Pharmacokinetic optimisation of drug therapy in elderly patients. Drugs Aging 1995; 7: 10-8
- Sunderland T, Tariot PN, Cohen RM, et al. Anticholinergic sensitivity in patients with dementia of the Alzheimer type and age-matched controls: a dose-response study. Arch Gen Psychiatry 1987; 44 (5): 418-26

- Bertz RJ, Kroboth PD, Kroboth FJ, et al. Alprazolam in young and elderly men: sensitivity and tolerance to psychomotor, sedative and memory effects. J Pharmacol Exp Ther 1997; 281 (3): 1317-29
- Morrison RL, Katz IR. Drug-related cognitive impairment: current progress and recurrent problems. Annu Rev Gerontol Geriatr 1989: 9: 232-79
- 30. Drugs that cause psychiatric symptoms. Med Lett Drugs Ther 1993; 35 (901): 65-70
- Gurwitz JH, Avorn J. The ambiguous relation between aging and adverse drug reactions. Ann Intern Med 1991; 114 (11): 956-66
- Muldoon MF, Manuck SB, Shapiro AP, et al. Neurobehavioral effects of antihypertensive medications. J Hypertens 1991; 9: 549-59
- Meyers BS, Mattis S, Gabriele M, et al. Effects of nortriptyline on memory self-assessment and performance in recovered elderly depressives. Psychopharmacol Bull 1991; 27 (3): 295-9
- Rogers MP, Liang MH, Daltroy LH, et al. Delirium after elective orthopedic surgery: risk factors and natural history. Int J Psychiatry Med 1989; 19 (2): 109-21
- 35. Marcantonio ER, Juarez G, Goldman L, et al. The relationship of postoperative delirium with psychoactive medications. JAMA 1994; 272 (19): 1518-22
- Schor JD, Levkoff SE, Lipsitz LA, et al. Risk factors for delirium in hospitalized elderly. JAMA 1992; 267 (6): 827-31
- American Psychiatric Association. Diagnostic and statistical manual of mental disorders. 3rd ed. Washington, DC: American Psychiatric Association, 1980
- American Psychiatric Association. Diagnostic and statistical manual of mental disorders. 3rd ed. rev. Washington, DC: American Psychiatric Association, 1987
- Foreman MD. Confusion in the hospitalized elderly: incidence, onset, and associated factors. Res Nurs Health 1989; 12 (1): 21-9
- Gustafson Y, Berggren D, Brannstrom B. Acute confusional states in elderly patients treated for femoral neck fracture. J Am Geriatr Soc 1988; 36 (6): 525-30
- Williams MA, Campbell EB, Raynor WJ, et al. Predictors of acute confusional states in hospitalized elderly patients. Res Nurs Health 1985; 8 (1): 31-40
- Naranjo CA, Busto U, Sellers EM, et al. A method for estimating the probability of adverse drug reactions. Clin Pharmacol Ther 1981; 30: 239-45
- Hutchinson TA, Flegel KM, Kramer MS, et al. Frequency, severity and risk factors for adverse drug reactions in adult outpatients: a prospective study. J Chronic Dis 1986; 39: 533-42
- Ramsdell JW, Henderson S, Renvall MJ, et al. Effect of theophylline and ipratropium on cognition in elderly patients with chronic obstructive pulmonary disease. Ann Allergy Asthma Immunol 1996; 76; 335-40
- Newman D, Tamir J, Speedy L, et al. Physiological and neuropsychological effects of theophylline in chronic obstructive pulmonary disease. Isr J Med 1994; 30: 811-6
- Pomara N, Deptula D, Medel M, et al. Effects of diazepam on recall memory: relationship to aging, dose, and duration of treatment. Psychopharmacol Bull 1989; 25: 144-8
- Pomara N, Stanley B, Block R, et al. Increased sensitivity of the elderly to the central depressant effects of diazepam. J Clin Psychiatry 1985; 46: 185-7
- Nikaido AM, Ellinwood EH, Heatherly DG. Age-related increase in CNS sensitivity to benzodiazepines as assessed by task difficulty. Psychopharmacology Berl 1990; 100: 90-7

- Kroboth PD, McAuley JW, Smith RB. Alprazolam in the elderly: pharmacokinetics and pharmacodynamics during multiple dosing. Psychopharmacology Berl 1990; 100: 477-84
- Lucki I, Rickels K, Geller AM. Chronic use of benzodiazepines and psychomotor and cognitive test performance. Psychopharmacology (Berl) 1986; 88: 426-33
- Mamelak M, Csima A, Buck L, et al. A comparative study on the effects of brotizolam and flurazepam on sleep and performance in the elderly. J Clin Psychopharmacol 1989; 9: 260-7
- Woo E, Proulx SM, Greenblatt DJ. Differential side effect profile of triazolam versus flurazepam in elderly patients undergoing rehabilitation therapy. J Clin Pharmacol 1991; 31: 168-73
- Golombok S, Moodley P, Lader M. Cognitive impairment in long-term benzodiazepine users. Psychol Med 1988; 18: 365-74
- Tata PR, Rollings J, Collins M, et al. Lack of cognitive recovery following withdrawal from long-term benzodiazepine use. Psychol Med 1994; 24: 203-13
- Hanlon JT, Horner RD, Schmader KE, et al. Benzodiazepine use and cognitive function among community-dwelling elderly. Clin Pharmacol Ther 1998; 64 (6): 684-92
- Wolkowitz OM, Weingartner H, Thompson K, et al. Diazepaminduced amnesia: a neuropharmacological model of an 'organic amnestic syndrome'. Am J Psychiatry 1987; 144: 25-9
- Vgontzas AN, Kales A, Bixler EO. Benzodiazepine side effects: role of pharmacokinetics and pharmacodynamics. Pharmacology 1995; 51: 205-23
- DeClerk AC, Bisserbe JC. Short-term safety profile of zolpidem: objective measures of cognitive effects. Eur Psychiatry 1997; 12 Suppl. 1: 15s-20s
- Unden M, Schechter BR. Next day effects after nighttime treatment with zolpidem: a review. Eur Psychiatry 1996; 11 Suppl. 1: S21-S30
- Fairweather DB, Kerr JS, Hindmarch I. The effects of acute and repeated doses of zolpidem on subjective sleep, psychomotor performance and cognitive function in elderly volunteers. Eur J Clin Pharmacol 1992; 43: 597-601
- Scharf MB, Mayleben DW, Kaffeman M, et al. Dose response effects of zolpidem in normal geriatric subjects. J Clin Psychiatry 1991; 52: 77-83
- 62. Lobo BL, Greene WL. Zolpidem: distinct from triazolam? Ann Pharmacother 1997; 31 (5): 625-32
- Taragano FE, Lyketsos CG, Mangone CA, et al. A double-blind, randomized, fixed-dose trial of fluoxetine vs. amitriptyline in the treatment of major depression complicating Alzheimer's disease. Psychosomatics 1997; 38 (3): 246-52
- Roth M, Mountjoy CQ, Amrein R, et al. Moclobemide in elderly patients with cognitive decline and depression. Br J Psychiatry 1996; 168: 149-57
- Hoyberg OJ, Maragakis B, Mullin J, et al. A double-blind multicentre comparison of mirtazapine and amitriptyline in elderly depressed patients. Acta Psychiatr Scand 1996; 93 (3): 184-90
- Geretsegger C, Bohmer F, Ludwig M. Paroxetine in the elderly depressed patient: randomized comparison with fluoxetine of efficacy, cognitive and behavioural effects. Int Clin Psychopharmacol 1994; 9 (1): 25-9
- Teri L, Reifler BV, Veith RC, et al. Imipramine in the treatment of depressed Alzheimer's patients: impact on cognition. J Gerontol 1991; 46 (6): 372-7
- Kerr JS, Fairweather DB, Hindmarch I. Effects of fluoxetine on psychomotor performance, cognitive function and sleep in depressed patients. Int Clin Psychopharmacol 1993; 8 (4): 341-3

- Branconnier RJ, Cole JO, Ghazvinian S, et al. Treating the depressed elderly patient: the comparative behavioral pharmacology of mianserin and amitriptyline. In: Costa E, Racagni G, editors. Typical and atypical antidepressants: clinical practice. New York: Raven Press. 1982
- 70. Siegfried K, O'Connolly M. Cognitive and psychomotor effects of different antidepressants in the treatment of old age depression. Int Clin Psychopharmacol 1986; 1 (3): 231-43
- Pancheri P, Delle Chiaie R, Donnini M, et al. Effects of moclobemide on depressive symptoms and cognitive performance in a geriatric population: a controlled comparative study versus imipramine. Clin Neuropharmacol 1994; 17 Suppl. 1: S58-73
- 72. Knegtering H, Eijck M, Huijsman A. Effects of antidepressants on cognitive functioning of elderly patients: a review. Drugs Aging 1994; 5 (3): 192-9
- 73. Oxman TE. Antidepressants and cognitive impairment in the elderly. J Clin Psychiatry. 1996; 57 Suppl. 5: 38-44
- Burns M, Moskowitz H, Jaffe J. A comparison of the effects of trazodone and amitriptyline on skills performance by geriatric subjects. J Clin Psychiatry 1986; 47: 252-4
- Branconnier RJ, Cole JO. Effects of acute administration of trazodone and amitriptyline on cognition, cardiovascular function and salivation in the normal geriatric subject. J Clin Psycopharmacol 1981; 1 (6 Suppl.): 82S-88S
- 76. Hindmarch I. The behavioural toxicity of the selective serotonin reuptake inhibitors. Int Clin Psychopharmacol 1995; 9 Suppl.
- Nyth AL, Gottfries CG, Lyby K, et al. A controlled multicenter clinical study of citalopram and placebo in elderly depressed patients with and without concomitant dementia. Acta Psychiatr Scand 1992: 86: 138-45
- Williams SA, Wesnes K, Oliver SD, et al. Absence of effect of sertraline on time-based sensitization of cognitive impairment with haloperidol. J Clin Psychiatry 1996; 57 Suppl. 1: 7-11
- Vitiello B, Martin A, Hill J, et al. Cognitive and behavioral effects of cholinergic, dopaminergic, and serotonergic blockade in humans. Neuropsychopharmacology 1997; 16: 15-24
- Magliozzi JR, Mungas D, Laubly JN, et al. Effect of haloperidol on a symbol digit substitution task in normal adult males. Neuropsychopharmacology 1989; 2 (1): 29-37
- Devanand DP. Antipsychotic treatment in outpatients with dementia. Int Psychogeriatr 1996; 8: 355-61
- Devanand DP, Sackeim HA, Brown RP, et al. A pilot study of haloperidol treatment of psychosis and behavioral disturbance in Alzheimer's disease. Arch Neurol 1989; 46 (8): 854-7
- Devanand DP, Marder K, Michaels KS, et al. A randomized, placebo-controlled dose-comparison trial of haloperidol for psychosis and disruptive behaviors in Alzheimer's disease. Am J Psychiatry 1998; 155: 1512-20
- McShane R, Keene J, Gedling K, et al. Do neuroleptic drugs hasten cognitive decline in dementia? Prospective study with necropsy follow up. BMJ 1997; 314 (7076): 266-70
- Friedman J, Lannon M, Comella C, et al. Low-dose clozapine for the treatment of drug-induced psychosis in Parkinson's disease. N Engl J Med 1999; 340: 757-63
- Katz IR, Jeste DV, Mintzer JE, et al. Comparison of risperidone and placebo for psychosis and behavioral disturbances associated with dementia: a randomized, double-blind trial. J Clin Psychiatry 1999; 60: 107-115
- Smith SJM, Kocer RS. A Creutzfeldt-Jakob like syndrome due to lithium toxicity. J Neurol Neurosurg Psychiatry 1988; 51: 120-3

- Austin LS, Arana GW, Melvin JA. Toxicity resulting from lithium augmentation of antidepressant treatment in elderly patients. J Clin Psychiatry 1990; 51: 344-5
- Kocsis JH, Shaw ED, Stokes PE, et al. Neuropsychologic effects of lithium discontinuation. J Clin Psychopharmacol 1993; 13: 268-76
- Egbert AM, Parks LH, Short LM, et al. Randomized trial of postoperative patient-controlled analgesia vs intramuscular narcotics in frail elderly men. Arch Intern Med 1990; 150: 1897-1903
- Baily RB, Jones SR. Chronic salicylate intoxication: a common cause of morbidity in the elderly. J Am Geriatr Soc 1989; 37: 556-61
- Hoppmann RA, Peden JG, Ober SK. Central Nervous System side effects of nonsteroidal anti-inflammatory drugs. Aseptic meningitis, psychosis, and cognitive dysfunction. Arch Intern Med 1991; 151: 1309-13
- Thornton TL. Delirium associated with sulindac. JAMA 1980; 243: 1630-1
- Goodwin JS, Regan M. Cognitive dysfunction associated with naproxen and ibuprofen in the elderly. Arthritis Rheum 1982; 25: 1013-5
- Wysenbeek AJ, Klein Z, Nakar S, et al. Assessment of cognitive function in elderly patients treated with naproxen. A prospective study. Clin Exp Rheumatol 1988; 6 (4): 399-400
- Bruce-Jones PN, Crome P, Kalra L. Indomethacin and cognitive function in healthy elderly volunteers. Br J Clin Pharmacol 1994: 38 (1): 45-51
- Rozzini R, Ferrucci L, Losonczy K, et al. Protective effect of chronic NSAID use on cognitive decline in older persons. J Am Geriatr Soc 1996; 44 (9): 1025-9
- 98. Hanlon JT, Schmader KE, Landerman LR, et al. Relation of prescription nonsteroidal antiinflammatory drug use to cognitive function among community-dwelling elderly. Ann Epidemiol 1997; 7 (2): 87-94
- Saag KG, Rubenstein LM, Chrischilles EA, et al. Nonsteroidal antiinflammatory drugs and cognitive decline in the elderly. J Rheumatol 1995; 22 (11): 2142-7
- Sturmer T, Glynn RJ, Field TS, et al. Aspirin use and cognitive function in the elderly. Am J Epidemiol 1996; 143 (7): 683-91
- May FE, Moore MT, Stewart RB, et al. Lack of association of nonsteroidal anti-inflammatory drug use and cognitive decline in the elderly. Gerontology 1992; 38: 275-9
- 102. McGeer PL, Schulzer M, McGeer EG. Arthritis and anti-inflammatory agents as possible protective factors for Alzheimer's disease: a review of 17 epidemiologic studies. Neurology 1996; 47 (2): 425-32
- 103. Young BK, Camicioli R, Ganzini L. Neuropsychiatric adverse effects of antiparkinsonian drugs: characteristics, evaluation and treatment. Drugs Aging 1997; 10 (5): 367-83
- 104. Growdon JH, Kieburtz K, McDermott MP, et al. Levodopa improves motor function without impairing cognition in mild non-demented Parkinson's disease patients. Neurology 1998; 50: 1327-31
- 105. Kulisevsky J, Avila A, Barbanoj M, et al. Acute effects of levodopa on neuropsychological performance in stable and fluctuating Parkinson's disease patients at different levodopa plasma levels. Brain 1996; 119: 2121-32
- Joseph CL, Siple J, McWhorter K, et al. Adverse reactions to controlled release levodopa/carbidopa in older persons: case reports. J Am Geriatr Soc 1995; 43: 47-50
- Waters CH. Managing the late complications of Parkinson's disease. Neurology 1997; 49 Suppl. 1: S49-S57

- Devinsky O. Cognitive and behavioral effects of antiepileptic drugs. Epilepsia 1995; 36 Suppl. 2: S46-65
- Drane DL, Meador KJ. Epilepsy, anticonvulsant drugs and cognition. Baillieres Clin Neurol 1996; 5 (4): 77-85
- Craig I, Tallis R. Impact of valproate and phenytoin on cognitive function in elderly patients: results of a single-blind randomized comparative study. Epilepsia 1994; 35 (2): 381-90
- 111. Smith DB, Mattson RH, Cramer JA, et al. Results of a nation-wide Veterans Administration Cooperative Study comparing the efficacy and toxicity of carbamazepine, phenobarbital, phenytoin, and primidone. Epilepsia 1987; 28 Suppl. 3: S50-8
- 112. Smith DB. Cognitive effects of antiepileptic drugs. In: Smith D, Treiman D, Trimble M, editors. Neurobehavioral problems in epilepsy. New York: Raven Press, 1991: 197-212
- Nichols ME, Meador KJ, Loring DW. Neuropsychological effects of antiepileptic drugs: a current perspective. Clin Neuropharmacol 1993; 16: 471-84
- 114. Prevey ML, Delaney RC, Cramer JA, et al. Effect of valproate on cognitive functioning. Comparison with carbamazepine. The Department of Veterans Affairs Epilepsy Cooperative Study 264 Group. Arch Neurol 1996; 53 (10): 1008-16
- 115. Prince MJ. The treatment of hypertension in older people and its effect on cognitive function. Biomed Pharmacother 1997; 51: 208-12
- Croog SH, Levine S, Testa MA, et al. The effects of antihypertensive therapy on quality of life. N Engl J Med 1986; 314: 1657-64
- 117. Goldstein G, Materson BJ, Cushman WC, et al. Treatment of hypertension in the elderly: II cognitive and behavioral function. Hypertension 1990; 15: 361-9
- Dimsdale JE, Newton RP, Joist T. Neuropsychological side effects of beta-blockers. Arch Intern Med 1989; 149: 514-25
- 119. Prince MJ, Bird AS, Blizard RA, et al. Is the cognitive function in older patients affected by antihypertensive treatment? Results from 54 months of the Medical Research Council's treatment trial of hypertension in older adults. BMJ 1996; 312: 801-5
- 120. Skinner MH, Futterman A, Morrissette D, et al. Atenolol compared with nifedipine: effect on cognitive function and mood in elderly hypertensive patients. Ann Intern Med 1992; 116: 615-23
- 121. Applegate WB, Phillips HL, Schnaper H, et al. A randomized controlled trial of the effects of three antihypertensive agents on blood pressure control and quality of life in older women. Arch Intern Med 1991; 151: 1817-23
- 122. Applegate WB, Pressel S, Wittes J, et al. Impact of the treatment of isolated systolic hypertension on behavioral variables: results from the systolic hypertension in the elderly program. Arch Intern Med 1994; 154: 2154-60
- 123. Starr JM, Whalley LJ, Deary IJ. The effects of antihypertensive treatment on cognitive function: results from the HOPE study. J Am Geriatr Soc 1996; 44: 411-5
- Morich FJ, Bieber F, Lewis JM, et al. Nimodipine in the treatment of probable Alzheimer's disease: results of two multicentre trials. Clin Drug Invest 1996; 11: 185-195
- 125. Grubb BP. Digitalis delirium in an elderly woman. Postgrad Med 1987; 81 (8): 329-30
- Varriale P, Mossavi A. Rapid reversal of digitalis delirium using digoxin immune Fab therapy. Clin Cardiol 1995; 18 (6): 351-2
- Rabinovitz M, Garty M, Shmuely H, et al. Delirium due to digoxin intoxication-a reminder. Isr J Med Sci 1987; 23: 1252-3

- 128. Pahor M, Guralnik JM, Gambassi G, et al. The impact of age on risk of adverse drug reactions to digoxin. J Clin Epidemiol 1993; 46: 1305-14
- 129. Kernan WN, Castellsague J, Perlman GD, et al. Incidence of hospitalization for digitalis toxicity among elderly Americans. Am J Med 1994; 96: 426-31
- Eisendrath SJ, Sweeney MA. Toxic neuropsychiatric effects of digoxin at therapeutic serum concentration. Am J Psychiatry 1987; 144: 506-7
- Eisenman DP, McKegney FP. Delirium at therapeutic serum concentration of digoxin and quinidine. Psychosomatics 1994; 35 (1): 91-3
- Johnson AG, Day RO, Seldon WA. A functional psychosis precipitated by quinidine. Med J Aust 1990; 153: 47-9
- 133. Clarke CW, El Mahdi EO. Confusion and paranoia associated with oral tocainide. Postgrad Med J 1985; 61 (711): 79-81
- 134. Saravay SM, Marke J, Steinberg MD, et al. 'Doom anxiety' and delirium in lidocaine toxicity. Am J Psychiatry 1987; 144 (2): 159-63
- 135. Galynker II, Tendler DS. Nizatidine-induced delirium in a nonagenarian. J Clin Psychiatry 1997; 58 (7); 327
- Catalano G, Catalano MC, Alberts VA. Famotidine-associated delirium: a series of six cases. Psychosomatics 1996;
 37: 349-55
- 137. Picotte-Prillmayer D, DiMaggio JR, Baile WF. H2 blocker delirium. Psychosomatics 1995; 36 (1): 74-7
- Cerra FB, Schentag JJ, McMillen M, et al. Mental status, the intensive care unit, and cimetidine. Ann Surg 1982; 196: 565-70
- Eisendrath SJ, Ostroff JW. Ranitidine-associated delirium. Psychosomatics 1990; 31 (1): 98-100
- Schentag JJ, Cerra FB, Calleri G, et al. Pharmacokinetic and clinical studies in patients with cimetidine-associated mental confusion. Lancet 1979; 1: 177-81
- 141. Porter JB, Beard K, Walker AM, et al. Intensive hospital monitoring study of intravenous cimetidine. Arch Intern Med 1986; 146: 2237-9

- 142. Cant'u TG, Korek JS. Central nervous system reactions to histamine-2 receptor-blockers. Ann Intern Med 1991; 114: 1027-34
- 143. Epstein CE. Ranitidine and confusion. Lancet 1984; 1: 1071
- 144. Tejera CA, Saravay SM, Goldman E, et al. Diphenhydramineinduced delirium in elderly hospitalized patients with mild dementia. Psychosomatics 1994; 35 (4): 399-402
- 145. McCue JD. Safety of antihistamines in the treatment of allergic rhinitis in elderly patients. Arch Fam Med 1996; 5 (8): 464-8
- 146. Kay GG, Berman B, Mockoviak SH, et al. Initial and steadystate effects of diphenhydramine and loratadine on sedation, cognition, mood, and psychomotor performance. Arch Intern Med 1997: 157 (20): 2350-6
- 147. Wolkowitz OM, Reus VI, Canick J, et al. Glucocorticoid medication, memory and steroid psychosis in medical illness. Ann N Y Acad Sci 1997; 823: 81-96
- Keenan PA, Jacobson MW, Soleymani RM, et al. The effect on memory of chronic prednisone treatment in patients with systemic disease. Neurology 1996; 47: 1396-402
- 149. Baile WF. Neuropsychiatric disorder in cancer patients. Curr Opin Oncol 1996; 8 (3): 182-7
- 150. Weinrich S, Sarna L. Delirium in the older person with cancer. Cancer 1994: 74: 2079-91
- Tuxen MK, Hansen SW. Neurotoxicity secondary to antineoplastic drugs. Cancer Treat Rev 1994; 20: 191-214
- Fishbain DA, Rogers A. Delirium secondary to metoclopramide hydrochloride. J Clin Psychopharmacol 1987; 7: 281-2
- Carter GL, Dawson AH, Lopert R. Drug-induced delirium. Incidence, management and prevention. Drug Saf 1996; 15 (4): 291-301

Correspondence and reprints: Dr Shelly L. Gray, University of Washington, School of Pharmacy, Box 357630, Seattle, WA 98195, USA.

E-mail: slgray@u.washington.edu